SIXTH FRAMEWORK PROGRAMME PRIORITY 8: Policy-Oriented Research





SPECIFIC TARGETED RESEARCH PROJECT n°SSPE-CT-2004-503604

Impact of Environmental Agreements on the CAP

Document number: MEACAP WP3 D7c

Dissemination level: public

Legislation and support programmes of bioenergy in Europe

Authors: A. Weiske, G. Fuchs

Author's Organisation(s): Institute for Energy and Environment (IE)

Date: May 2005

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	AUSTRIA	2
2	BELGIUM	4
3	CYPRUS	6
4	CZECH REPUBLIC	8
5	DENMARK	10
6	ESTONIA	12
7	FINLAND	14
8	FRANCE	16
9	GERMANY	18
10	GREECE	20
11	HUNGARY	22
12	IRELAND	24
13	ITALY	26
14	LATVIA	28
15	LITHUANIA	30
16	LUXEMBOURG	32
17	MALTA	34
18	POLAND	35
19	PORTUGAL	37
20	SLOVAKIA	39
21	SLOVENIA	41
22	SPAIN	43
23	SWEDEN	45
24	THE NETHERLANDS	47
25	LINITED KINGDOM	10

1 Austria

Targets	Year	
Electric Energy		
EU		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	78.1 %
National		
Share of biomass, geothermal, solar and wind power in the	2003	2 %
electricity supply	2005	3 %
	2007	4 %
Fuels		
EU		
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /7/, /9/

Electric E	Cnergy /	1	1/
------------	----------	---	----

Investment incentives	Environmental Promotion Law (UFG (Umweltförderungsgesetz); since 1993, modified 2002) for the support of innovative technologies 10 to 30 % of the investment costs
Tax relief	Electricity Delivery Law (since 1996, modified 2000) Tax relief for the production of RE-electricity for own consumption up to 5000 kWh/a 11.8 % of the revenues are allocated to the states for the promotion of RE-projects
Feed-in tariffs	Eco-Power-Law (since 2003) Feed-in tariffs are guaranteed for at least 10 years (2002: 13 years) biomass 10.2 to 16.5 €ct/kWh depending on the installed electrical power, used technology and used kind of biomass (solid, liquid, gaseous; waste)
System of quota / certificates	_
NFFO	_
Miscellaneous	Investment incentives for RE at a state level

Heat

Investment incentives

Small private plants are supported in line with the housing support scheme (e. g. additional eco-fee depending on the energy characteristic and floor space) or specific biomass promotion (often as a one-time grant to the investment costs), the conditions for and the degree of the support are different in the individual states. /15/

<u>Commercial plants</u> are supported in line with the environmental promotion.

e. g. Tyrol

Environmental promotion is handled as ,de-minimis'-grant in the sense of EU-jurisdiction and is valid until December 31st 2006. The following measures are supported: operative measures for an alternative use of energy (e. g. biomass plants), construction investments (incl. capitalised services), equipment investments (incl. capitalised services) and other equipment as well as immaterial costs (e. g. external surveys or concepts). Only costs with a direct connection to the project can be supported. This costs may only include the additional costs to reach the environmental targets. The support is given as one-time grant in the height of max. 10 % of the eligible costs (assessment basis for promotion). /15/

Tax relief	_
Feed-in tariffs	_
System of quota / certificates	_
NFFO	_

Fuels

Tax relief Mineral Oil Taxation Law (BGBl 1995/630); since 1995

100 % tax relief for biodiesel and bioethanol

partial tax relief for fuel mixes (up to 5 % biodiesel)

production of biodiesel is not taxable, if the biodiesel is used

exclusively in the agriculture

R & D Especially in local traffic

Miscellaneous Fuel Decree (BGBl 1992/123); since 1992

it regulates the use of liquid fuels

unlimited production of biodiesel

Austrian Decree on Transportation Fuels

up to 3 % of biodiesel can be mixed with conventional diesel

2 **Belgium**

Targets	Year	
Electric Energy		
EU		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	6.0 %
National		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption	2004	3.0 %
Fuels EU		
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /7/, /9/

Electric l	Energy	/1	1/	!
------------	--------	----	----	---

Investment incentives	Decree 15.12.1993 (1993 to 1999) depending on the size of the company 10 to 20 % of the investment costs	
Tax relief	Fiscal deduction investments (since 1992) The investment costs can partly be deducted from the taxable income (2002: 13.5 % of the investment costs)	
Feed-in tariffs	Green Franc system (1995; modified in 1998) biomass 2.0 €ct/kWh	
System of quota / certificates	Green Certificates Flanders (since 2002) for Flanders there is an obligation for all energy suppliers:	

Share of RE in the power generation 1.4 % 2002 2003 2.05 % 3.0 % 2004 2005 5.0 %

Fine, if the share is not reached

since 02/2003 the import of RE-electricity is accepted for the quota there is no fixed minimum price for a certificate

Green Certificates Wallonia (since 2002)

for Wallonia: RE-electricity and electricity from CHP generation Share of RE in the power generation 2004 3.0 % 7.0 % 2007

Fine, if the share is not reached

only RE-electricity generated in Wallonia is accepted for the quota

minimum price: 65 €/certificate

System of quota / certificates NFFO	Green Certificates Brussels-capital (not yet implemented) for Brussels; still under construction
Heat /34/	
	There is no nationally standardised structure of subsidies for the heat market in Belgium. There are only regional initiatives. Nevertheless the heat generation on the basis of biomass has reached noticeable shares in the industry (3.7 %) and in the household sector (> 2 %).
Investment incentives	In the Walloon region the use of wood and other biomasses for the heat generation is promoted (Investment subsidy scheme Wallonia - 1995, modified 1998, 2003).
Tax relief	_
Feed-in tariffs	_
System of quota / certificates	_
NFFO	
Fuels	
R & D	Financial support for demonstration projects
	At the moment there are no specific subsidies for biofuels.

3 Cyprus

Targets		Year	
Electric Energy			
EU Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/ National		2010	6.0 %
Fuels			
EU			
Share of biofuels and otl	ner renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of	all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %
Political Instruments to F	Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /8/,	, /10/	
Electric Energy			
Investment incentives	New Grant Scheme for Energy the Utilisation of Renewable E biomass plants 30 to 40	nergy Sources (20	04-2006)
Tax relief			
Feed-in tariffs Electricity Authority of Cyprus (EAC) buys RE-electrici prices Fixed tariff for electricity from RES biomass 6.3 €ct/kWh		ctricity for fixed	
	Additionally the EAC awards a factorial source and used technology (fination biomass 6,3 €ct/kg	anced by the consur	
System of quota / certificates			
NFFO			
Heat			
Investment incentives	_		
Tax relief	_		
Feed-in tariffs	_		

System of quota / certificates	
NFFO	
Fuels	

4 Czech Republic

Targets	Year	
Electric Energy		
EU		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	8.0 %
National		
Fuels		
EU		
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /8/, /10/

Electric	Energy
-----------------	--------

Investment incentives

Tax relief Up to 5 years tax relief (depending on income and ownership) for investments in RE

Reduced VAT rate (5 % instead of 22 %) for biomass plants

Feed-in tariffs Decree of the MIT n. 252/2001 / ERO Decree No. 438/2001 Coll.

Feed-in tariffs are adapted annually

solid biomass

8.3 €ct/kWh (2004)
biogas

8.0 €ct/kWh

6.6 €ct/kWh

System of quota / certificates

NFFO ___

Miscellaneous Law for support of electrical and heat energy production from

RES (2004)

for the realisation of the targets of the EU until 2010

certificates for electricity from RES

Heat

Biomass as a RES in the Czech Republic is used predominantly for the production of heat. In this regard, especially the use of wood, straw and oil plants is of utmost importance.

Investment incentives Promotion by grants from the national environmental fund: - individuals max. 30 % of the total costs - municipalities max. 40 % of the total costs Combinations of grants and subsidised loans also possible: - individuals: promotion adds up to 70 % of the total costs - municipalities: promotion of up to 80 % of the total costs Tax relief 5 years relief from the property tax, if buildings are heated by RE. Up to 5 years of tax relief (depending on income and ownership) for investments in renewable energies. Reduced VAT rate (5 % instead of 22 %) for biomass plants, also for the end user of biomass-based heating systems. Feed-in tariffs System of quota / certificates **NFFO**

Fuels

Tax relief Relief from consumption tax for biodiesel

Miscellaneous Support for purchasing rape seed for the production of

methylester

Support is defined individually for each producer to keep the price for

biodiesel 5 % under the price for conventional diesel

Support for production of bioethanol as alternative liquid fuel

support about 10.7 €ct/l bioethanol

Oleoprogram of the Ministry of Agriculture

Support for the production of biofuels

Production of biodiesel is oriented at German and Austrian standards

5 Denmark

Targets	Year		
Electric Energy			
EU			
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010		29.0 %
National			
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption	2003	6.80 TWh	20.0 %
Share of biomass in the gross electricity consumption (base 2000)	2004		10.0 %
Fuels			
EU			
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005		2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010		5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /7/, /9/

Electric Energy /11/

Investment incentives	Act on Utilisation of Renewable Energy Sources (since 1996) 15 to 30 % of construction costs (for pilot projects up to 50 %) biogas plants: up to 30 % biomass cogeneration plants: up to 16 % maximum subsidy: 132 450 € (2002 many subsidies have been cut)
Tax relief	_
Feed-in tariffs	Adaptation of Electricity Reform Agreement (2001-2002) biomass 8.1 €ct/kWh Act on payment for green energy (2003) Feed-in tariff is guaranteed for 10 years solid biomass 4.0 €ct/kWh (+1.0 €ct/kWh for RE-certificate) biogas 4.0 €ct/kWh municipal waste 1.0 €ct/kWh
System of quota / certificates	Providers of electricity have to use a certain amount of biomass; consumers of electricity have to use a certain amount of power from RES or CHP generation (self supporters can be exempted from a part of this amount)
NFFO	_

Miscellaneous	It was planned to replace the feed-in tariffs with a certificate by January 2003; this was delayed and now it should start with the start of the EU-wide trade with CO ₂ -certificates
Heat /12/	
Investment incentives	Act on utilisation of renewable energy (1981/97)
Tax relief	The energy sources coal, oil and natural gas are surtaxed on the basis of the tax decree on fossil fuels. In these taxes the use of biomass for the heat generation is not integrated, so that biomass is competitive in most heat markets. This is not effective in the industrial sector, since fossil fuels are not integrated in the taxation during the implementation phase.
Feed-in tariffs	_
System of quota / certificates	_
NFFO	_
Fuels	
	At the moment there are no specific subsidies for biofuels.
R & D	demonstration projects

6 Estonia

Targets	Year	
Electric Energy		
EU		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	5.1 %
National		
T J.		
Fuels		
EU		
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /8/, /10/

Electric Energy Investment incentives Tax relief Feed-in tariffs Electricity Market Act (EMA) since 2003 Payment for electricity made of biomass for 7 years (till 2015) network operators (Eesti Energia AS) is committed to buy REelectricity for a price 1.8 % higher than the average market price of electricity in the year before biomass (incl. org. municipal waste) 5.2 €ct/kWh (2004) System of quota / certificates **NFFO** Miscellaneous **Pollution Charge Act** Companies, that use biomass for the power generation, do not have to pay CO₂-tolls (others pay 50 €ct/t CO₂)

Heat

Investment incentives

Tax relief Value Added Tax Act (2001)

Until 30.6.2007: 5 % VAT for wood used for heating in the private

sector. Normally the VAT rate is 18 %.

Feed-in tariffs	
System of quota / certificates	_
NFFO	
Fuels	

7 Finland

Targets	Year	
Electric Energy		
EU		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	31.5 %
National		
Increase in the share of biomass use for energetic needs	1995-	25 %
(Bioenergy Promotion Programme, 1994)	2005	
Fuels		
EU		
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /7/, /9/

Electric Energy /11/

Investment incentives	Energy support subsidies, based on state decision 29/99 (since 1999) for biomass plants max. 30 % of the investment costs max. subsidy only when innovative technology is used (100 wood based biomass plants have been supported with 13.8 Mill. € in 2001)
Tax relief	_
Feed-in tariffs	Energy tax exemption Motion 519/98 (since 1998) Electricity tax (that has to be paid by all consumers) is transferred as a subsidy to producers of electricity from biomass biomass < 1 MW _{el} 0.42 €ct/kWh
	wood chips (currently only a proposal) 0.69 €ct/kWh
System of quota / certificates	_
NFFO	

Heat /13/

Investment incentives	Indirect investment incentive in line with measures for the forestry. Fixed transportation support of 7 C/m^3 (> 3.5 \tilde{\text{C}}/MWh) and support of the wood conditioning (crushing) of 1.7 C/m^3 (> 2 \tilde{\text{C}}/MWh) Investment subsidies for new companies (for the use of wood as energy source)
Tax relief	Local promotion projects for the use of biomass for heating Energy tax exemption Motion 519/98 biomass 1.0 €/GJ
	Heat is subject to the full VAT rate of 22 %
Feed-in tariffs	_
System of quota / certificates	_
NFFO	
Fuels	
	Up to now Finland does not produce biofuels commercially.
R & D	Demonstration projects

8 France

Targets	Year		
Electric Energy			
EU			
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010		21.0 %
National			
Installed electrical power from (solid) biomass Installed electrical power biogas	2007	200-400 MW 50-100 MW	
Fuels			
EU			
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005		2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010		5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /7/, /9/

	Electric	Energy	/11/
--	-----------------	--------	------

•			
Investment incentives	FIDEME (private investr max. 25 % of project cost	,	
	FACE Programme (fina government and the electrup to 70 % of the investment areas	ricity consumers)	·
Tax relief	_		
Feed-in tariffs	Electricity Law 2000 (since 2000) Feed-in tariffs for 15 or 20 years, will increase in the coming years because of inflation and rising labour costs		
	biomass	\leq 12 MW _{el}	4.9 €ct/kWh (Standard) 6.0 €ct/kWh (Premium)
System of quota / certificates	_		
NFFO	for RE-electricity from pl	ants $> 12 \text{ MW}_{el}$	

Heat

open tender; the winner gets a guaranteed feed-in tariff, that depends on the supply, up to now projects in the fields of biogas and wind power with an overall power of 250 MW_{el} have been tendered

Investment incentives Investment compensation schemes (compensation payments)

ADEME (Agence de l'Environnement et de la Maîtrise de l'Energie);

40 % of the costs

Tax relief Reduced VAT rate of 5.5 % for wood products and wood heating in the

private sector (instead of 19.6 %)

Feed-in tariffs See miscellaneous

System of quota / certificates

NFFO —

Fuels

Tax relief Reduced consumption taxes for mineral oil products (2000):

0.35 €/I for biodiesel (that corresponds with about 120 Mill. €/a)

0.50 €/l for ethyl alcohol

annual production amounts of biodiesel are limited to guarantee a fair

competition between EU-countries; the tax relief will be reduced in 2005

Investment incentives Biofuel production programme

Investment incentives for the production of biodiesel

Miscellaneous Mineral oil companies can mix conventional diesel with biodiesel:

up to 5 % for private use

up to 30 % for commercial car pools (company cars, buses etc.)

France is leading in the production and commercialisation of biodiesel

(40 % of the European production)

9 Germany

Targets	Jahr	
Electric Energy		
EU		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	12.5 %
National		
Share of RE in the primary energy consumption	2010	4.2 %
1 7 67 1	2030	25.0 %
	2050	50.0 %
Fuels		
EU		
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %
Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /7/,	/0/	
1 once of figure and the transfer of figure 11 on the transfer of figure 1	171	

El

Electric Energy /11/			
Investment incentives	up to 5 Mill. € net in	ed interest rates ("Marktanreiz vestment costs; max. 20 years cre y fed biomass plants > 100 kW _{th} v	edit period
		debt ("Marktanreizprogramm s up to 70 kW _{el} ; 15 000 €/plant	")
Tax relief	_		
Feed-in tariffs	guaranteed feed-in or tariffs guaranteed for	· 20 years mass, CHP, innovative technolog ffs: 1.5 %/a	gies 11.5 €ct/kWh 9.9 €ct/kWh 8.9 €ct/kWh
System of quota / certificates	_		
NFFO	_		

Miscellaneous

Different investment incentives in different states for biomass plants with electricity generation; partly under the condition, that there is no federal subsidy.

Heat /35/ /36/

Investment incentives

Subsidies ("Marktanreizprogramm", BAFA)

Automatically fed plants for solid biomass from 8 to 100 kW and for log boilers from 15 to 100 kW, subsidy of 60 €/kW, at least 1700 €/plant

Subsidised interest rates and partly remission of debt ("Marktanreizprogramm", KfW)

Automatically fed plants of more than 100 kW with mostly natural wood, interest rates of up to 5 Mill. € net investment costs with max. 20 years credit period

Tax relief

Mineral oil taxation law (since 01.01.2004)

Oil products and natural gas for the heat generation are subject to taxes, in contrast to biomass products and coal products that are not subject to taxes.

Feed-in tariffs

System of quota / certificates

A model of quota for renewable energies in the heat market is discussed. Connected with this is the requirement of a "heat law" for

renewable energies.

NFFO

Miscellaneous

Different investment incentives in individual states for biomass plants

with electricity generation and heat production; provided that there is

no federal subsidy.

Fuels

Tax relief

Mineral oil taxation law (since 01.01.2004)

Tax relief for biofuels (and also for biogen components in mixed fuels)

until 31.12.2009

The extent of the tax relief can be adjusted to the development of the

oil markets or the prices of biomass and fuels for the time being complete tax exemption

10 Greece

Electric Energy /11/

Targets	Year	
Electric Energy		
EU		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	20.1 %
National		
Fuels		
2 4440		
EU		
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /7/, /9/

Breedite Energy / 11/	
Investment incentives	New Operational Programme for Energy (2000-2006) for biomass plants 40 % of project costs
	Development Law 2601/98 (since 1998) up to 40 % of the project costs as partial financing of the capital costs, subsidised loans, leasing
Tax relief	Law 2364/95 Reduction of the taxable income in case of installation of RE-equipment in private buildings 75 % of the investment and installation costs are deductible
Feed-in tariffs	Law 2244/94 (since 1994) and Law 2773/99 (liberalisation) prior purchase of RE-electricity, up to 50 MW _{el} feed-in tariffs for 10 years tariffs depend on the electrical voltage, place and time of day (about 7 to 7.8 €ct/kWh)

70 % of the electricity market price

independent power generators: 90 % of the electricity market price Producers of RE-electricity have to pay an annual fee of 2 % of the revenues from the electricity production (this money is used for the

Self-sufficiency:

System of quota / — certificates

NFFO —

Miscellaneous

implementation of new projects)

Heat

The new development law 2601/98, replacing 1892/90, which is expected to be the main funding tool of RES applications in the future. The law provides a combination of subsidy options that is either a) capital investment subsidies up to 40 %, interest subsidy up to 40 % and subsidy for leasing up to 40 % or

b) tax deduction up to 100 % and interest subsidy up to 40 % for investments in RES. /14/

http://www.ypetho.gr/ypourgeio/anaptyksiakos.asp

Investment incentives

Measure 2.1 of Sub programme 2 of the current Operational Programme for Competitiveness (OPC), under the third Community Support Framework (2000-2006), that is devoted to provide State support to private investments in RES and RUE the grants are given following rounds of public calls. For biomass - biogas investments, the public subsidy is 40 % of the total eligible investment cost regardless of the geographical region. /14/

www.antagonistikotita.gr

Investment incentives

Tax relief

Law 2364/95

Reduction of the taxable income in the case of installation of equipment for renewable energies in private buildings, 75 % of the investment and installation costs are deductible.

Feed-in tariffs

System of quota / certificates

_

NFFO _

Fuels

The production of biofuels is still a pilot project; support for biofuels can only be expected when they become competitive.

11 Hungary

Targets	Year	
Electric Energy		
EU		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	3.6 %
National		
To-all		
Fuels		
EU		
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /8/, /10/

Electric	Energy
-----------------	--------

Investment incentives

Tax relief

Feed-in tariffs **Ministerial Decree 56/2002** guaranteed feed-in tariffs for RE-electricity

biomass 6 to 6.8 €ct/kWh

System of quota / certificates

NFFO

Miscellaneous **Energy Conservation and Energy Improvement Action**

Programme (2000)

Support of the energy production from RE

financial support for the implementation of RE-projects

Heat

Biomass as renewable energy is an important resource in Hungary. Its use has at this stage a remarkable standard. Reasons for this are substantial research works and financial support by different promotion measures of the Hungarian government.

Investment incentives

Tax relief	_
Feed-in tariffs	_
System of quota / certificates	
NFFO	
Fuels	
Tax relief	Biodiesel is not liable to consumption taxes.
Miscellaneous	Government decree about the conditions of the sales and use of biodiesel (2003) Biodiesel is supported with 0.13 €ct/l

12 Ireland

Targets	Year	
Electric Energy		
EU		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	13.2 %
National		
Fuels		
EU		
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /7/, /9/

Electric Energy /11/

Investment incentives —

Tax relief

Business Expansion Scheme (BES)

Tax relief for 5 years for investments in RE

Feed-in tariffs

—

System of quota / —

certificates

NFFO Alternative Energy Requirement (AER) financial support by the European Regional Development Fund and feed-in tariffs for 15 years AER I (1994) Target: 12 MW_{el} biomass / waste Realisation: 12 MW_{el} 5.1 €ct/kWh tariff: **AER II (1995)** Target: 30 MW_{el} biomass cogenration plant, single plant Realisation: not in use (a. o. problem: fuel supply) 4.6 €ct/kWh tariff: **AER III (1997)** Target: 7 MWel biomass / waste Realisation: $0~MW_{el}$ tariff: < 5.1 €ct/kWh AER IV (1997) Target: 35 MWel CHP Realisation: $0~MW_{el}$ tariff: 3.8 €ct/kWh AER V (2001) 10 MWel biomass / waste Target: Realisation: 8 MW_{el} (bis 2004) ≤ 5.9 €ct/kWh tariff: AER VI (2003) Target: 8 MW_{el}l biomass 2 MW biogas 28 MW CHP 6.4 €ct/kWh 7.0 €ct/kWh tariff: 7.0 €ct/kWh Miscellaneous Heat There are no political instruments to promote the generation of heat from renewable energy sources. Investment incentives Tax relief Feed-in tariffs System of quota / certificates **NFFO Fuels** R & D Demonstration projects Tax relief Only for demonstration projects

13 Italy

Heat

Investment incentives

Targets	Year		
Electric Energy			
$\mathbf{E}\mathbf{U}$			
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010		25.0 %
National			
Share of RE in the primary energy consumption	2010		4.2 %
Installed electrical power		biomass	waste
	2006 2012	$800 \mathrm{\ MW_{el}}$ $2 \ 300 \mathrm{\ MW_{el}}$	$500 \mathrm{\ MW_{el}}$ $800 \mathrm{\ MW_{el}}$
Fuels			
${f EU}$			
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005		2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010		5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /7/, /9/

Electric Energy /11/ Investment incentives Law 10/91 (since 1991) 30 to 40 % of the investment costs Tax relief Feed-in tariffs Law 9/91 and CIP provision 6/92 (since 1991) tariffs for 8 years payment of a premium on the basis of market prices Law 79/99 (since 1999) System of quota / certificates share of RE in the electricity production for electricity generators > 100 GWh/a (for own consumption, CHP and exports are not credited). It is possible to buy certificates or build RE-plants to fulfil the quota. RE-plants, that get feed-in tariffs, cannot sell certificates. **NFFO** Miscellaneous

Tax relief	_
Feed-in tariffs	_
System of quota / certificates	
NFFO	_
Fuels	
Tax relief	Financial law (2000) Tax relief for biodiesel, bioethanol etc.
	Law 173/1998 (1998) Relief for the non-food production of the raw materials for biofuels (e. g. rape seed for biodiesel)
Miscellaneous	since 1991 biodiesel is used in municipalities; the production of biodiesel is regulated annually.
	National Voluntary Agreement (2001) Biodiesel can be mixed to a share of 5 % to conventional diesel.
	Italy has (besides France) a leading position in the market for biodiesel.
	The production of bioethanol is tested currently.

14 Latvia

Feed-in tariffs

Targets		Year	
Electric Energy			
EU Share of RE in the gross National	electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	49.3 %
Fuels			
EU			
Share of biofuels and oth	ner renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of	all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %
Political Instruments to P	Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /8/,	, /10/	
Electric Energy			
Investment incentives	_		
Tax relief	_		
Feed-in tariffs	Regulation No. 9 "Requirements for co-generation plants and the procedure of setting price for purchase of excess electricity" (since 2002) higher payments for electricity from domestic sources biogas / waste feed-in tariffs comply with the market price		
System of quota / certificates	Regulation No. 28 "On total installation capacities for each type of electricity generation if RES are utilised" (since 2002) every year the installed electrical power from renewable sources is revised 2004: 1 MW _{el} from solid biomass (wood or peat) 1 MW _{el} from biogas or municipal waste		
NFFO			
Heat			
Investment incentives	_		
Tax relief	_		

System of quota / certificates	
NFFO	
Fuels	
Miscellaneous	Up to now biodiesel is not used; to make biodiesel competitive with fossil fuels public support is necessary.
	National Program on Production and Use of Biofuel in Latvia Production and use of biodiesel from 2010 adaptation of diesel engines to biodiesel

15 Lithuania

Targets		Year	
Electric Energy			
EU			
Share of RE in the gross National	s electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	7.0 %
Fuels			
EU			
Share of biofuels and ot	her renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of	all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %
Political Instruments to 1	Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /8/,	/10/	
Electric Energy			
Investment incentives	Up to 40 % of the costs for the n	et access are subsi-	dised
Tax relief	_		
Feed-in tariffs	Resolution No. 1474 (since 2002) no guaranteed time for the feed-in tariffs biomass 5.8 €ct/kWh (2004)		
System of quota / certificates	_		
NFFO	_		
Miscellaneous	Until 2009 the installed electrica increase to 35 MW	l power of biomass	s plants shall
Heat			
	The main user of wood are one-fabout the promotion of the use o	-	
Investment incentives	_		
Tax relief	_		
Feed-in tariffs	_		

System of quota / certificates	_
NFFO	
Fuels	
	Currently there are no special subsidies for the promotion of biofuels.
	To reach the targets of the EU, until 2005 about 20 000 t/a and until 2010 about 55 000 t/a of biofuels will have to be utilised; the production capacities to reach this targets can easily be built up for bioethanol and RME.

16 Luxembourg

Targets	Year	
Electric Energy		
EU		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	5.7 %
National		
Share of RE in the public electricity grid (CEGEDEL)	2010	5.0 %
Share of wood in the primary energy consumption	2010	1.0 %
Fuels		
EU		
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /7/, /9/

Electric Energy /11/

Breetite Energy / 11/		
Investment incentives	Subsidised interest rates SNCI (Societé Nationale Crédit à l'Investissement; since 1948) The government offers low-interest rates (interest rate: 3 %) max. 10 (in exemptions up to 14) years maturity Interest rates are offered for 25 to 60 % of the investment costs max. investment costs: 1 220 000 € min. investment costs: 12 261 €	
	Framework law 27.07.1993 and Grand Ducal regulation from 05.08.1993 concerning economic development and diversification (since 1993) Subsidies of up to 25 % of the investment costs own funds are necessary	
Tax relief	Flexible depreciation (1989-1999) Tax payers (companies) could depreciate up to 60 % of the investment costs.	
Feed-in tariffs	Framework law 05.08.1993 (since 1994) Payments by the public supporter CEGEDEL biomass $\leq 500 \text{ kW}_{el}$ 10.0 €ct/kWh $> 500 \text{ und} \leq 1500 \text{ kW}_{el}$ 5.8 €ct/kWh (day) 3.0 €ct/kWh (night)	
System of quota / certificates		

NFFO	_
Miscellaneous	Divers investment promotion programmes in the past
Heat	
Investment incentives	_
Tax relief	_
Feed-in tariffs	_
System of quota / certificates	_
NFFO	
Fuels	
	Currently there are no specific promotion instruments for the use of biofuels

17 Malta

Targets		Year	
Electric Energy			
EU			
	electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	5.0 %
National			
Fuels			
EU			
Share of biofuels and oth		2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of a	all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %
Political Instruments to P	romote the Use of Biomass /5/, /8/,	/10/	
Electric Energy			
Investment incentives	_		
Tax relief	_		
Feed-in tariffs	_		
System of quota / certificates	_		
NFFO	_		
Miscellaneous			
Heat	currently Malta works ou	nt a strategy for the	promotion of RE
Fuels			

18 Poland

Targets	Year	
Electric Energy		
EU		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	7.5 %
National		
Fuels		
EU		
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /8/, /10/

Electric	Energy
----------	--------

Investment incentives	Investors can ask (without automatic entitlement) for investment promotion or subsidised interest rates at: National Fund of Environmental Protection Environmental Protection Bank ECOFUND
Tax relief	RE-electricity is not subject of the consumption tax (0.44 €ct/kWh)
Feed-in tariffs	Until 2000 Poland had a feed-in tariff for RE-electricity
System of quota / certificates	Quota Obligation Ordinance (since 2003) Electricity suppliers have to sell a certain share of RE-electricity of which biomass and wind should have the biggest share 2001 at least 2.4 % 2002 at least 2.5 % 2010 at least 7.5 % currently there are no legal or financial consequences for suppliers, that miss that quota
NFFO	_
Miscellaneous	For a better promotion of RE (definition of an overall strategy, secure legal basis for investments etc.) currently a "Renewable-Energies-Law" is worked out (draft is under discussion in the Parliament)

Heat

Investment incentives

Tax relief	_
Feed-in tariffs	A decree of the Minister for Economy, Labour and Social Policy from 30.05.2003 regulates the obligations to buy electricity and heat from renewable sources and smoothes out at least partially the existing uncertainties for investors and plant operators.
System of quota / certificates	_
NFFO	
Fuels	
Miscellaneous	Act on the Organisation of the Market for Liquid biofuels (2003) regulates the admixing of biofuels, the minimum share of biofuels is revised annually

19 Portugal

39.0 %
39.0 %
39.0 %
2.0 %
5.75 %
-

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /7/, /9/

Electric	Energy	/11/
		/ 1 1/

80	
Investment incentives	MAPE/POE-Programme, 2000-2006 for public and private organisations power generation from RE or energy management and co-combustion about 40 % of the investment sum (varies depending on economic efficiency and technology)
Tax relief	Favourable taxation on personal income tax (DL number 442-A/88), since 1988 Private individuals can deduct up to 30 % (max. 700 €/a) of their investments in RE-technologies from their tax basis (since 2002)
	VAT reduction Reduction of the VAT rate (normal: 17 %) since 2001 to 12 % for all investments in RE besides side and service investments
Feed-in tariffs	Decree-Law number 339-C/2001 (update of 168/99), since 2001 obligation to buy RE-electricity feed-in tariffs guaranteed for 12 years tariffs are adapted annually to the consumer price index biomass 6.198 €ct/kWh (2003)
System of quota / certificates	_
NFFO	_
Miscellaneous	

Heat		
Discount	Use energy potential and streamline consumption (MAPE in POE)	
Investment incentives	The projects promoted by the EU between 1995 and 1999 (ENERGIA Program) have been predominantly biomass-heat-projects. There are no information available about national promotion programmes.	
Tax relief	_	
Feed-in tariffs	_	
System of quota / certificates	_	
NFFO		
Fuels		
Tax relief	Tax relief (up to 100 %) for biofuels, that are used in (certified) R&D or pilot projects	

20 Slovakia

Targets	Year	
Electric Energy		
EU		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	31.0 %
National		
Share of RE in the primary energy consumption	2005	4.0 %
Fuels		
EU		
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /8/, /10/

Electric Energy

System of quota / certificates

Investment incentives	Program of the State Support for Alternative Energy sources Usage Relief of up to 70 % of the interests on interest rates
Tax relief	_
Feed-in tariffs	_
System of quota / certificates	
NFFO	_
Miscellaneous	The government supports the financing of biomass projects only in remote, mountainous or rural areas
Heat	
Investment incentives	_
Tax relief	_
Feed-in tariffs	_

21 Slovenia

Targets		Year	Year	
Electric Energy				
EU				
Share of RE in the gross	electricity consumption (ind.	.) /2/ 2010	33.6 %	
National				
Fuels				
EU				
Share of biofuels and oth	er renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %	
in the energy content of a	all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %	
Political Instruments to P	romote the Use of Biomass	/5/, /8/, /10/		
Electric Energy				
Investment incentives	Refund of up to 40 % of taccess to the grid up to 60		s, in remote areas without	
	Provision of subsidised in	nterest rates		
Tax relief	biomass is not subject to the CO_2 -tax (which is otherwise 2 % of the fuel prices)			
Feed-in tariffs	Decree on prices and premiums for purchase of electricity from qualified producers (Official Gazette RS, no. 8/04) it is planned to adapt the feed-in tariff annually (depending on inflation			
	and other factors of influe		my (depending on inflation	
	biomass u	p to 1 MW	6.98 €ct/kWh	
	n	nore than 1 MW	6.76 €ct/kWh	
System of quota / certificates	_			

Heat

NFFO

Programme for the use of wooden biomass for the power generation (2000)

Until 2010 a total of 50 district heating systems (with 3 MW on the average), 100 modern industrial combustion plants (300 kW) and 5 000 boilers for private central heating (up to 30 kW) shall be built resp. installed; total costs: 179 Mill. Euro (thereof 53 Mill. Euro public grants)

National Energy Programme (NEP)

Is to be passed by the parliament in 2004, an increase of the use of biomass for heating reasons is planned.

Investment incentives	Subsidies of up to 40 % of the investment costs
Tax relief	Biomass is exempted from the CO ₂ -tax
Feed-in tariffs	_
System of quota / certificates	_
NFFO	_

Fuels

Up to now there is no production of biodiesel.

22 Spain

Targets	Year	
Electric Energy		
EU		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	29.4 %
National		
Fuels		
EU		
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /7/, /9/

Electric Energy /11/

9.			
Investment incentives	Línea ICO-IDEA, since 1999 for private and public organisations Reduced interest rate subsidies on investments in RE (a. o. biomass, biogas and biofuels) annual review of rates, 2002: 2 to 4 % max. credit line per project: 6.3 Mill. € (available total credit volume 2002: 150.2 Mill. €)		
Tax relief	_		
Feed-in tariffs	other biomass 6.05 €ct/kW Premium tariff 2003: energy plants 3.32 €ct/kW		e market price 6.85 €ct/kWh 6.05 €ct/kWh 3.32 €ct/kWh 2.51 €ct/kWh
System of quota / certificates	_		
NFFO	_		
Miscellaneous	Own targets and instruments	on the regional level	

Heat	
	Plan for the Promotion of Renewable Energies (1997)
Investment incentives	_
Tax relief	_
Feed-in tariffs	_
System of quota / certificates	_
Fuels	
Tax relief	Law 53 (30.12.2002) Biofuels are exempted from the hydrocarbon tax until 2012
Investment incentives	Spanish Energy Saving and Efficiency Plan Subsidised interest rates of up to 30 % of the eligible costs
Miscellaneous	Promotion Plan Promotion of production and use of biodiesel and bioethanol
	Besides France, Spain is the only commercial producer of ETBE in the EU

23 Sweden

Targets	Year		
Electric Energy			
EU			
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010		60.0 %
National			
Increase of the share of RE-electricity	2010	around 10 TWh	
Kraftstoff			
EU			
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005		2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010		5.75 %

Electric Ener	:gv /11/	
----------------------	-----------------	--

Investment incentives Various investment incentives (short term)

Tax relief **Act 1994: 1779** (since 1994)

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /7/, /9/

Small scale RE-electricity production Relief from energy tax (1 to 2 €ct/kWh)

biomass: also relief from different

environmental charges (CO₂, sulphur, NO_x)

Feed-in tariffs ____

System of quota / Electricity certificate trad certificates Share of RE at the power ge

Electricity certificate trading system (since May 2003)

Share of RE at the power generation 2003 7.4 % 2010 16.9 %

in the start phase this rule is not valid for energy intensive industries power suppliers can allocate the certificate price to consumers (with

the power bills; about 0.55 €ct/kWh)

guaranteed min. price per certificate: 0.66 €ct/kWh (2003)

0.22 €ct/kWh (2008)

Fine, if the share is not reached: 1.93 €ct/kWh (2003)

2.63 €ct/kWh (2004)

NFFO ___

Miscellaneous R & D – Programme (1998-2004)

257 Mill. € overall

Swedish Energy Agency is responsible for the implementation

Heat	
Investment incentives	Energy tax exemption (1990) biomass becomes the cheapest source to produce heat
Tax relief	There were local investment programmes to promote sustainable development, in which e.g. biomass heating installations have been promoted. /16/, /17/
Feed-in tariffs	Different measures to support the use of biomass have been introduced, e. g. a tax relief (at the same time taxes on fossil fuels) and a CO ₂ -tax, so that biomass is one of the cheapest energy sources to produce heat.
System of quota / certificates	
Quotenregelung / Zertifikate	_
NFFO	
Fuels	
Tax relief	Energy tax exemption Biofuels are not subject to the energy or environmental taxation and free of any charges (CO ₂ , sulphur)
R & D	Research programmes of the Swedish Energy Agency

24 The Netherlands

Targets	Year	
Electric Energy		
EU		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	9.0 %
National		
Share of RE in the primary energy consumption	2010	5.0 %
	2020	10.0 %
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption	2020	17.0 %
Fuels		
EU		
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /7/, /9/

Electric Energy /11/

Investment incentives	Energy Investment Deduction Deduction of the taxable incominvestment costs in the first year max. deduction of the taxable min. investment costs: 1900 €	me to a certain share (2002: 55 %) of the ear income: 99 Mio. €
	Subsidy Regulation on Energy Sectors (EINP, since 1997) only for investments higher the non-profit organisations:	gy Supply in Non-profit and Private an 1 750 € up to 18.5 % of the investment costs

private households: up to 20.0 % of the investment costs

Tax relief Regulating Energy Tax (REB, since 1997, modified July 2003)

Regulating Energy Tax (REB, since 1997, modified July 2003) Energy tax <u>and</u> subsidies for the production of RE-electricity (since 2003 no subsidies for electricity from biomass)

Charges for small and medium energy and gas consumers since 2001

Introduction of certificates
Tax relief for RE-electricity

biomass (100 % and small plants): 2.9 €ct/kWh

Feed-in tariffs **Environmental quality of electricity production** (MEP, since July 2003)

Feed-in tariffs guaranteed for max. 10 years

can be used additionally to the REB-relief

biomass (small plants): 6.8 €ct/kWh

System of quota / certificates	_
NFFO	_
Miscellaneous	Support for R&D biogas projects, pilot projects Promotion of CHP no plants $\geq 100~\text{MW}_{\text{el}}$ and hereby support of local power supply and biomass co-combustion
Heat	
Investment incentives	_
Tax relief	Energy Investment Allowance is a tax deduction for investments in energy efficiency and for renewable energy cooperation. The advantage is based on a deduction of the taxable income to a certain share (from 2001: 55 %, before 40 %) of the investment costs.
Feed-in tariffs	_
System of quota / certificates	
NFFO	
Fuels	
Tax relief	100 % tax relief for the use of cold-pressed vegetable oil in certain vehicles.
	Tax relief for refined biofuels and lubricants.
R & D	Test of the use of biodiesel in vehicles.

25 United Kingdom

Targets	Year	
Electric Energy		
EU		
Share of RE in the gross electricity consumption (ind.) /2/	2010	10.0 %
National		
Share of RE in the primary energy consumption	2003	13.0 %
	2010	18.0 %
Fuels		
EU		
Share of biofuels and other renewable fuels	2005	2.0 %
in the energy content of all fuels /3/	2010	5.75 %

Political Instruments to Promote the Use of Biomass /5/, /7/, /9/

Electric	Fnerov	/1	1	1
Liecuic	LHEIZV	/ 1	1.	/

Investment incentives	The New Opportunities Fund under National Lottery 2, 1998, annual adjustment) electricity production from biomass (no waste): er CHP private heat generation from biomass 40 % of the investment costs (depending on the availability)	nergy plants,
Tax relief	Climate Change Levy (CCL, Statutory Instrument; 28.07 ("polluter-pays-principle" for industrial and public sector) Taxes on electricity from fossil sources (to pay with energ ca. 0.63 €ct/kWh) For electricity from RES no tax has to be paid.)
Feed-in tariffs	_	
System of quota / certificates	New & Renewables Obligation (01.04.2002-2027) Obligation for all energy suppliers	
	0, 11	3.0 %
		0.4 %
		0.4 %
	if the share is not reached, certificates have to be bought (Renewable Obligation Certificates) or fine paid (prices are annually, currently about 4.5 €ct/kWh)	$ROC_S =$
NFFO	_	
Miscellaneous		

Heat	
Investment incentives	Publication of a promotion programme $>$ £ 4.2 Mill. (ca. \in 3 Mill.) for the heat production from biomass and for small CHP-plants
Tax relief	_
Feed-in tariffs	_
System of quota / certificates	_
NFFO	
Fuels	
Tax relief	Tax Exemption (2004)

Literature

LITERATURE

/1/ Energie für die Zukunft: Erneuerbare Energieträger. Weißbuch für eine Gemeinschaftsstrategie und Aktionsplan. Mitteilung der Kommission: KOM(97)599 endg..

- Richtlinie 2001/77/EG des Europäischen Parlaments und des Rates zur Förderung der Stromerzeugung aus erneuerbaren Energiequellen im Elektrizitätsbinnenmarkt vom 27. September 2001, Amtsblatt der Europäischen Gemeinschaften vom 27. Oktober 2001, L 283/33 ff.
- Richtlinie 2003/30/EG des Europäischen Parlaments und des Rates zur Förderung der Verwendung von Biokraftstoffen oder anderen erneuerbaren Kraftstoffen im Verkehrssektor vom 8. Mai 2003, Amtsblatt der Europäischen Gemeinschaften vom 17. Mai 2003, L 123/42 ff.
- Union zur Förderung von Oel- und Proteinpflanzen e. V. (UFOP): UFOP-Bericht 2002/2003. Bonn, 2003.
- /5/ Commission of the European Communities: The share of renewable energy in the EU Country Profiles, Overview of Renewable Energy Sources in the Enlarged European Union. Staff Working Document, COM(2004)366 final, Brussels, May 2004.
- Commission of the European Communities: The share of renewable energy in the EU, Commission Report in accordance with Article 3 of Directive 2001/77/EC, evaluation of the effect of legislative instruments and other Community policies on the development of the contribution of renewable energy sources in the EU and proposals for concrete actions. Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament, COM(2004)366 final, Brussels, May 2004.
- Danyel Reiche (ed.): Handbook of Renewable Energies in the European Union, Case studies of all Member States, Peter Lang GmbH Europäischer Verlag der Wissenschaften, Frankfurt am Main, 2002.
- /8/ Danyel Reiche (ed.): Handbook of Renewable Energies in the European Union II, Case studies of all Accession States, Peter Lang GmbH Europäischer Verlag der Wissenschaften, Frankfurt am Main, 2003.
- European Renewable Energy Council (EREC): Promotion and Market Stimulation of RES in EU and Candidate Countries. Work package 2: Review of renewable energy policy within the EU-15, Brussels, May 2004.
- /10/ European Renewable Energy Council (EREC): Promotion and Market Stimulation of RES in EU and Candidate Countries. Work package 3: Status of renewable energy within the New Member States, Brussels, May 2004.

Literature

/11/ Energy research Centre of the Netherlands (ECN): Renewable electricity policies in Europe - Country fact sheets 2003. ECN-C--03-071, Amsterdam, October 2003.

- /12/ Evald, A.: Persönliche Mitteilung, FORCE Technology, April 2004.
- Alakangas, E.: Renewable energy sources in Finland, 2000, OPET Report 9. OPET Finland; Jyväskylä, 2002.
- Calliope Panoutsou: Persönliche Mitteilung, Center for Renewable Energy Sources Greece (CRES), Pikermi, April 2004.
- EnergieVerwertungsagentur the Austrian Energy Agency (E.V.A.): EnergieSparFörderungen und EnergieBeratung 2003. Ein Nachschlagewerk für Private, Unternehmen und Gemeinden; 9., aktualisierte Auflage, Wien, Mai 2003.
- Nilson, L. J. et al: Seeing the wood for the trees: 25 years of renewable energy policity in Sweden. In: Energy for Sustainable Development, Vol. VIII No. 1, March 2004.
- /17/ Swedish Energy Agency (SEA): Energy in Sweden 2003. Eskilstuna, 2004.
- /18/ International Energy Agency (IEA): Renewables Information 2003. 2003.
- /19/ Frost & Sullivan's Analysis Of The Biogas Power Plant Market (Report B162); 2003.
- Observ'ER / EurObserv'ER: Le Barometre du Biogaz 6,4% de croissance en 2002; Systems Solaires Nr. 157; October 2003.
- /21/ IEA Bioenergy Report: Biogas and more! Systems and market overview; 2001.
- Baumgarten, S.; TST-Consulting, Radeberg: "Immer bessere Voraussetzungen für EE im Baltikum"; in Ost-West-contact; Ausgabe November 2003.
- /23/ MCPFE, 2000 und 2002.
- Bundesministerium für Verbraucherschutz, Ernährung und Landwirtschaft (BMVEL): Ernährungs- und agrarpolitischer Bericht der Bundesregierung (2003), Februar 2003, S. 100.
- Institut für Energetik und Umwelt gGmbH: Monitoring zur Biomasseverordnung auf Basis des Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetzes (EEG) aus Umweltsicht. Endbericht, Leipzig, Dezember 2003.
- /26/ FAOSTAT: Agricultural data, Crops primary. http://faostat.fao.org/faostat/form?collection=Production.Crops.Primary&Domain=Production&servlet=1&hasbulk=0&version=ext&language=EN, 30.04.2004.

Literature

/27/ FAOSTAT: Agricultural data, Live animals. http://faostat.fao.org/faostat/form?collection=Production.Livestock.Stocks&Domain=Production&servlet=1&hasbulk=0&version=ext&language=EN, 30.04.2004.

- Schneider, S.: Potenziale regenerativer Energien in Deutschland; in: Hartmann, H., Kaltschmitt, M. (Hrsg.): Biomasse als erneuerbarer Energieträger Eine technische, ökologische und ökonomische Analyse im Kontext der übrigen Erneuerbaren Energien; Schriftenreihe "Nachwachsende Rohstoffe", Landwirtschaftsverlag, Münster, 2002, Band 3 (vollständige Neubearbeitung), S. 564-605.
- Institut für Energetik und Umwelt gGmbH: Biogasgewinnung aus Gülle, organischen Abfällen und aus angebauter Biomasse eine technische, ökologische und ökonomische Analyse. DBU-Projekt 15071; Endbericht, Leipzig, Dezember 2003.
- /30/ http://europa.eu.int/comm/agriculture/markets/hops/report2001/tab2000_en.pdf, 30.04.2004.
- /31/ Eurostat Datenbank NewCronos: Landwirtschaftliche Erzeugnisse Versorgungsbilanzen Weinbilanz (Wirtschaftsjahr). Verwendbare Erzeugung 2000, 01.04.2004.
- /32/ http://europa.eu.int/comm/eurostat/newcronos/queen/display.do?screen=welcome-bene-yearlies/dd/dda&language=de&product=THEME8&root=THEME8#/yearlies/dd/dda, 30.04.2004.
- European Commission: Waste generated and treated in Europe, Data 1990-2001; Luxembourg, 2003.